
United Nations A/C.6/60/SR.1

 

General Assembly
Sixtieth session

Official Records

Distr.: General
28 October 2005

Original: English

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a
copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each
Committee.

05-53297 (E)

*0553297*

Sixth Committee
Summary record of the 1st meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Monday, 3 October 2005, at 3 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Yáñez-Barnuevo . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (Spain)

Contents
Tribute to the victims of terrorism

Election of the Rapporteur

Organization of work

Statement by the Legal Counsel

Agenda item 79: Report of the United Nations Commission on International Trade
Law on the work of its thirty-eighth session



2

A/C.6/60/SR.1

The meeting was called to order at 3.10 p.m.

Tribute to the victims of terrorism

1. At the invitation of the Chairman, the members of
the Committee observed a minute of silence in memory
of the victims of the terrorist bombing on Bali on
1 October 2005 and of other terrorist attacks which
had occurred since the previous meeting.

Election of the Rapporteur

2. The Chairman said that the Group of Latin
American and Caribbean States had nominated
Ms. Shermain Jeremy (Antigua and Barbuda) in the
office of Rapporteur. In the absence of any other
nominations, he took it that the Committee wished to
elect Ms. Shermain Jeremy as Rapporteur.

3. It was so decided.

Organization of work (A/C.6/60/L.1 and
A/C.6/60/L.1/Corr.1)

4. The Chairman noted that in a global and
interdependent world, international law was playing an
important role in all aspects of relations among
nations, a fact reflected in the 2005 World Summit
Outcome (A/RES/60/1). The Committee must therefore
spare no effort in responding to the Secretary-General’s
invitation to meet new challenges and to strengthen the
rule of law in international relations. In particular, it
should make every effort to conclude a comprehensive
convention on international terrorism during the
current session.

5. He drew attention to the allocation of agenda
items to the Committee as contained in document
A/C.6/60/1 and to the note by the Secretariat on
organization of work (A/C.6/60/L.1 and Corr.1).

6. With regard to the establishment of working
groups, he recalled that the General Assembly, in its
resolution 59/47, had decided that the work of the Ad
Hoc Committee established pursuant to General
Assembly resolution 56/89 should continue during the
sixtieth session of the General Assembly within the
framework of a working group of the Sixth Committee.
The Ad Hoc Committee had been mandated to expand
the scope of legal protection under the Convention on
the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel,
including, inter alia, by means of a legal instrument.
He therefore took it that the Committee wished to

establish a working group of the Sixth Committee,
chaired by Mr. Wenaweser (Liechtenstein), in order to
continue the work of the Ad Hoc Committee and that
the working group, like the Ad Hoc Committee, would
be open to all States Members of the United Nations or
members of specialized agencies or of the International
Atomic Energy Agency.

7. It was so decided.

8. The Chairman referring to agenda item 108
(Measures to eliminate international terrorism) drew
attention to the fact that the General Assembly, in its
resolution 59/46, had decided that the work of the Ad
Hoc Committee established pursuant to its resolution
51/210 should also continue during the sixtieth session
within the framework of a working group of the Sixth
Committee. He announced that the International
Convention for the Suppression of Acts of Nuclear
Terrorism, which had been finalized by the Ad Hoc
Committee and approved by the General Assembly
earlier that year, had been signed by 89 States as of
29 September 2005. In the light of the recommendation
contained in paragraph 18 of the Ad Hoc Committee’s
report (A/60/37), he took it that the Committee wished
to establish a working group, chaired by Mr. Perera
(Sri Lanka), to continue the work of the Ad Hoc
Committee and that the working group, like the Ad
Hoc Committee, would be open to all States Members
of the United Nations or members of specialized
agencies or of the International Atomic Energy
Agency.

9. It was so decided.

10. The Chairman drew attention to the proposed
timetable for the consideration of items contained in
paragraphs 3 to 6 of the note on organization of work
(A/C.6/60/L.1), and noted that the Bureau had
circulated a proposal to the effect that the report of the
International Law Commission on the work of its fifty-
seventh session (A/60/10) should be considered in
three parts. He took it that the Committee agreed with
that proposal.

11. It was so decided.

12. The Chairman said that, consistent with the
established practice, the proposed programme of work
would be applied with flexibility in the light of the
progress made by the Committee and that the
Committee would take action on draft resolutions as
soon as they were ready for adoption.



3

A/C.6/60/SR.1

13. The Committee must allow sufficient time for the
preparation and consideration of the estimates of
expenditures arising from draft resolutions. Since the
Committee was due to conclude its work on
9 November 2005, all draft resolutions with financial
implications, except for that relating to the report of
the International Law Commission, must be submitted
to the Fifth Committee by 28 October 2005. He took it
that the Committee wished to proceed on the basis of
the proposed work programme.

14. It was so decided.

15. The Chairman said that the agreed work
programme took into account the need for efficient use
of time and resources. During the fifty-ninth session,
the Committee had lost approximately 20 hours owing
to meetings starting late and ending early and its
conference service utilization rate had declined from
the previous year. However, that rate could be
improved if meetings began on time and if, in the event
that the Committee was unable to proceed with its
discussion of one item, delegations were prepared to
consider the next item on the agenda. Lastly, he drew
the Committee’s attention to paragraph 13 of General
Assembly resolution 59/313, which invited Member
States that were aligned with statements already made
by the chair of a group of Member States, where
possible, to focus additional interventions made in their
national capacity on points that had not already been
adequately addressed in the statements of the groups in
question, bearing in mind the sovereign right of each
Member State to express its national position.

16. Mr. Malpede (Argentina), speaking on behalf of
the Rio Group, expressed concern that the meetings of
the Sixth Committee were occurring simultaneously
with informal consultations on agenda item 75 (a)
(Oceans and the law of the sea), and 75 (b)
(Sustainable fisheries). On a number of occasions
during past sessions of the General Assembly, many
delegations, including his own, had explained that that
practice did not permit delegations with small missions
in New York to give their full attention to both forums.
The work of the Sixth Committee and the agenda items
concerning the law of the sea and fisheries both
entailed lengthy negotiations on questions of great
variety and depth. The Rio Group therefore requested
that they should not be scheduled simultaneously in
future, and that measures should be taken immediately
to resolve that problem. In particular, it requested the
Chairman to hold relevant consultations with the

President of the General Assembly and the
coordinators of the negotiations on item 75.

Statement by the Legal Counsel

17. Mr. Michel (Under-Secretary-General for Legal
Affairs, the Legal Counsel) stressed the importance of
the 2005 World Summit Outcome, which contained
many references to international law and the rule of
law. Those references reflected an underlying culture
within the United Nations, of which the General
Assembly, and in particular the Sixth Committee, were
among the primary guarantors.

18. The issue of terrorism, which featured
prominently on the Committee’s agenda, had already
generated a great deal of public interest. In that
connection, he commended the efforts undertaken by
the Committee with a view to adopting a general
counter-terrorism convention. The successful
conclusion of the International Convention for the
Suppression of Acts of Nuclear Terrorism, which had
been signed by almost 90 States, was a significant step
in the right direction.

19. He underlined the importance of the
consideration of the report of the International Law
Commission. It was vital that the Commission received
the necessary input from Member States and that the
Committee should take advantage of the presence of
the Commission’s rapporteurs. Delegations should also
ensure that statements on the first topic for
consideration were ready as soon as that topic appeared
on the agenda.

20. He had taken note with interest of the informal
activities that would take place on the periphery of the
Committee’s work. Open discussions on a number of
sensitive questions relating to international law were
important and useful and, in that regard, he
commended the authors of various initiatives. Lastly,
he welcomed the excellent spirit of cooperation that
characterized his relationship with the Sixth
Committee and pledged his continuing support for its
activities.

Agenda item 79: Report of the United Nations
Commission on International Trade Law on
the work of its thirty-eighth session (A/60/17)

21. Mr. Pinzón Sánchez (Chairman of the United
Nations Commission on International Trade Law
(UNCITRAL)), introducing the Commission’s report



4

A/C.6/60/SR.1

on the work of its thirty-eighth session (A/60/17), said
that, at that session, the Commission had finalized and
approved the draft convention on the use of electronic
communications in international contracts, which
offered an effective set of legal rules that would
facilitate economic development in all regions and
countries. The draft convention would promote the use
of modern means of communication in cross-border
commercial transactions by providing a basis for the
simplification of domestic rules on electronic
commerce and by enhancing confidence and trust in its
use. The new instrument had been carefully crafted to
ensure that it did not negatively affect the well-
established regime of the United Nations Convention
on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods and
that it did not interfere with the law of contract
formation in general. The Commission’s decision to
submit the draft convention to the General Assembly
and its recommendation that the Assembly should
adopt the text at its sixtieth session were contained in
paragraph 167 of the report.

22. Turning to the question of procurement, he said
that, in 2004, Working Group I had begun its
consideration of novel issues in the area of public
procurement with a view to updating the Model Law
on Procurement of Goods, Construction and Services.
Guided by the need to prevent fraud and corruption and
enhance efficiency, the Working Group had been
mandated to work towards removing legal obstacles to
the use of modern procurement methods. At its seventh
session, held in April 2005, the Working Group had
started the in-depth consideration of four preliminary
topics, namely, the electronic publication of
procurement-related information; other issues arising
from the use of electronic means of communication in
the procurement process, such as controls over their
use; electronic reverse auctions; and abnormally low
tenders. The Commission had commended the Working
Group on the progress made and had reaffirmed its
support for the review being undertaken and for the
inclusion of novel procurement practices in the Model
Law.

23. With regard to the settlement of commercial
disputes, the Commission had noted the progress made
by Working Group II regarding the issue of interim
measures of protection. In particular, notwithstanding
the wide divergence of views, the Working Group had
agreed to include a compromise text of the revised
draft of paragraph 7 in draft article 17 of the

Commission’s Model Law on International
Commercial Arbitration. Discussions were still
pending on, inter alia, draft articles relating to the
recognition and enforcement of interim measures of
protection issued by an arbitral tribunal and to the
power of state courts to issue interim measures in
support of arbitration.

24. The exponential increase in international trade
had led to a corresponding increase in commercial
disputes and, in that connection, the importance of
arbitration as a means of resolving international
commercial disputes could not be overemphasized. The
Commission continued to welcome the opportunity to
discuss the desirability and feasibility of further
developing the law of international commercial
arbitration and continued to support developments in
that field. In terms of future work in the field of
commercial dispute settlement, the Commission had
taken note of the Working Group’s suggestion that,
once the consideration of existing projects had been
concluded, primary consideration might be given to the
issues of arbitrability of intra-corporate disputes and
other issues relating to arbitrability. It had also been
suggested that issues arising from online dispute
resolution and the possible revision of the UNCITRAL
Arbitration Rules might need consideration.

25. In the area of transport law, Working Group III
had proceeded with the second reading of the draft
instrument on the carriage of goods [wholly or partly]
[by sea]. It had also considered, for the first time,
provisions relating to electronic commerce and had
approved a revised text for further consideration. In
view of the magnitude of the project and of the
difficulties involved in the preparation of the draft
instrument, it had been agreed that 2007 would be a
desirable completion date. However, the Commission
would revisit the issue of establishing a completion
deadline at its next session.

26. As far as security interests were concerned, the
Commission had noted the progress made by the
Working Group in the preparation of a legislative guide
designed to establish an efficient and modern legal
regime for secured transactions, which would provide
significant economic benefits for States adopting it. A
complete consolidated set of legislative
recommendations was at an advanced stage of
discussion and, with a view to achieving a
comprehensive text, the Working Group had discussed
additional assets at its eighth session in September



5

A/C.6/60/SR.1

2005. Since a number of other organizations were
working on related projects or had an institutional
interest in that field, the Working Group was
coordinating its work with those organizations, which
included the Hague Conference on Private
International Law, the International Institute for the
Unification of Private Law and the World Intellectual
Property Organization. The Commission had
commended the Working Group on its progress and
had requested it to expedite its work so as to submit the
draft legislative guide to the Commission at its 2006
session.

27. Turning to other aspects of UNCITRAL’s work,
he recalled that in 2001 the Commission had mandated
its secretariat to prepare an analytical digest of case
law relating to the United Nations Convention on
Contracts for the International Sale of Goods. At its
thirty-eighth session, the Commission had expressed
satisfaction with the progress of the work on that case-
law information system, noting the publication of the
digest in December 2004. The first draft of a digest of
case law relating to the Model Law on International
Commercial Arbitration had been discussed at the
meeting of national correspondents held in conjunction
with the thirty-eighth session.

28. Technical assistance to law reform remained an
indispensable element of the Commission’s work. The
technical assistance and coordination unit established
within the Commission’s secretariat in 2005 had begun
the process of identifying national and regional needs
for technical assistance. Opportunities for the
development of joint technical assistance programmes
with national, regional and international organizations
were also being explored. The Commission reiterated
its appeal to all States, international organizations and
other interested entities to cooperate with UNCITRAL
in providing technical assistance and to consider
making contributions to the UNCITRAL Trust Fund to
meet the increasing demand for such assistance.

29. The active pursuit of coordination and
cooperation with other organizations in areas of
international trade law of mutual interest remained a
priority. The Commission’s secretariat had prepared the
first of a series of annual surveys on the work of
international organizations related to the harmonization
of international trade law focusing on substantive
legislative work. A similar survey on the activities of
international organizations providing technical
assistance to law reform in the areas of international

trade law of interest to the Commission was to be
prepared for its thirty-ninth session. Detailed reports
on electronic commerce and insolvency law had also
been drawn up. In the latter area, the Commission
would continue coordinating and cooperating with the
World Bank and the International Monetary Fund to
facilitate the development of a unified international
standard. The Commission was also cooperating with
the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime in the
field of fraud and falsification of identity.

30. UNCITRAL continued to monitor the legislative
implementation of the United Nations Convention on
the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral
Awards (the New York Convention). The Commission
appealed to those States that had not done so to provide
their replies to the questionnaire circulated by the
UNCITRAL secretariat on the subject.

31. Lastly, he noted that 2005 had marked the
twentieth anniversary of the adoption of the
UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial
Arbitration and the twenty-fifth anniversary of the
United Nations Convention on Contracts for the
International Sale of Goods. The Commission’s
secretariat had organized and co-sponsored conferences
to celebrate those anniversaries in various regions. In
2006 a series of conferences would be held to mark the
thirtieth anniversary of the UNCITRAL Arbitration
Rules, and in 2007, in the context of its fortieth
session, the Commission planned to organize a
congress in Vienna to review the results of its past
work, assess current work programmes and consider
and evaluate topics for future work. The General
Assembly might wish to acknowledge the importance
of those activities for the coordination and promotion
of further modernization, harmonization and unification
of international trade law.

32. Mr. Buhler (Austria) expressed his delegation’s
satisfaction with the efforts of the Commission’s
secretariat to increase coordination and cooperation
with other international organizations active in the
field of international trade law and urged the secretariat
to continue and intensify that work. The Commission’s
most important achievement during the past year had
undoubtedly been the approval of the draft convention
on the use of electronic communications in
international contracts, aimed at enhancing legal
certainty and commercial predictability where
electronic communications technology was used in
relation to international contracts.



6

A/C.6/60/SR.1

33. Austria had followed with interest the work of the
Commission on procurement, arbitration, transport law
and security interests and commended the respective
working groups for the progress made in those areas. It
attached particular importance to the work on a draft
legislative guide on security interests and looked
forward to its early completion.

34. His delegation welcomed the fact that two
meetings relating to the Commission’s work were to be
held in Vienna: a conference on the UNCITRAL
Arbitration Rules, which would be held in 2006 under
the auspices of the International Arbitral Centre of the
Austrian Federal Economic Chamber, and a congress to
review the past and present work of the Commission
and the related work of other organizations and to
consider topics for future work, to be held in 2007. He
noted also that the Willem C. Vis International
Commercial Arbitration Moot was held every year in
Vienna. He wished to highlight the importance of the
Moot, which afforded a unique opportunity to
introduce future generations of lawyers around the
world to the work of UNCITRAL. He therefore
encouraged other delegations to circulate information
on the Moot to law schools and universities in their
countries.

35. Ms. Collet (France) said that the finalization of
the draft convention on the use of electronic
communications in international contracts was one of
the most important outcomes of the Commission’s
thirty-eighth session, which had been extraordinarily
productive. Given the growth of electronic
communications, it was certainly useful to create the
necessary conditions for the legal recognition of
electronic documents, including the safeguards needed
to ensure their preservation and integrity; however, her
delegation regretted that insufficient attention had been
paid to the fundamental notion of legal certainty, which
was essential where electronic commerce was
concerned. In particular, it would have wished to see a
requirement that the parties to an electronic contract
must provide information regarding their place of
business.

36. France welcomed the increase in the membership
of UNCITRAL to 60 States and looked forward to
active participation by all members in the
Commission’s work. The Commission’s activities
relating to the coordination of the work of international
organizations and the publication of documents
describing that work had been very useful. Her

delegation hoped that the growth in the Commission’s
resources would enable it to play a central role within
the United Nations system in all matters relating to
international trade law, in accordance with its mandate.

37. While continuing to take advantage of the advice
and information provided by experts, the Commission
could and should increasingly assume responsibility
for the various draft instruments under development.
The additional resources would enable it to use
independent experts, rather than those offered by
professional bodies, which, as was to be expected,
represented the interests of their members.

38. While it was useful for the Commission to
coordinate its activities with those of the international
financial institutions, no formal ties should be
established between their respective areas of work.
UNCITRAL’s role in matters of national trade law,
which fell outside its mandate, was to provide legal
advice and develop legislative models and guides,
which States were free to utilize as they saw fit.

39. Lastly, her delegation wished to highlight an
issue which it considered crucial: respect for the
official languages of the Commission. In a highly
technical field such as commercial law, full
participation by delegations, especially French-
speaking ones, was dependent on the availability of
language services. Translation and interpretation
should therefore be assured in order to enable the
Commission to fulfil its mandate effectively.

40. Mr. Watson (United Kingdom) said that his
delegation welcomed the successful conclusion of the
draft convention on the use of electronic
communications in international contracts, which
recognized a number of complexities and reflected the
work of regional economic integration organizations
such as the European Union. The United Kingdom
looked forward to participating in future working
groups with a view to establishing international
guidelines and best practice to complement domestic
legislation and would recommend working closely with
existing industry organizations on the issues involved.

41. His delegation had participated in the work of the
Working Group II (Arbitration and Conciliation) and
would continue to do so. The United Kingdom agreed
that the compromise arrived at by the Working Group
on the issue of ex parte interim measures remained
extremely controversial and would support the
proposal that the provision, if included, should be in



7

A/C.6/60/SR.1

the form of an opting-in provision, applying only
where the parties had expressly agreed to its
application. It supported the Commission’s hope the
Working Group would present its proposals for final
review and adoption in 2006. It was also pleased to
note that the thirtieth anniversary of the UNCITRAL
Arbitration Rules was to be celebrated and would
attend the 2006 Vienna conference.

42. His delegation welcomed the discussion by the
Commission of future work on insolvency law and
would be pleased to take part in the colloquium to be
held in November 2005.

43. Mr. Boonpracong (Thailand) said that his
country had always attached importance to the
development, modernization and harmonization of
international trade law, which would provide countries,
especially developing ones, with a tool to deal with the
increasing volume and complexity of international
trade and business resulting from globalization, while
also enhancing the confidence of potential investors
and promoting trade and development. Thailand had
participated actively in the work of the Commission
and had closely followed the work of other
international organizations in the area of international
trade law. The international legal instruments
developed by UNCITRAL had played an important
role in the development of Thailand’s commercial
laws, notably those on electronic commerce and
electronic signatures. Recognizing the need to reduce
uncertainty as to the legal effects of the increasing use
of electronic communications in international trade, his
delegation supported the recently concluded draft
convention on the use of such communications in
international contracts, which would once again serve
as the basis for the development of national legislation
in Thailand.

44. As international trade-related legal instruments
had also been developed and harmonized in other
international forums, Thailand strongly favoured
greater coordination and cooperation between
UNCITRAL and other organizations in order to prevent
possible duplication of work and inconsistency in such
instruments. His delegation supported the use of
official travel funds for travel to meetings with those
organizations.

45. His delegation believed that the development of
international trade law should be accorded the same
attention within the United Nations as other areas of

international law. In Thailand’s view, the resources
allocated to the UNCITRAL secretariat should be
increased.

46. Thailand welcomed with appreciation UNCITRAL’s
new website, launched in June 2005, and encouraged
the secretariat to continue striving to improve it. The
site’s greater functionality enhanced its role as an
important component of the Commission’s overall
programme of information activities and training and
technical assistance. Lastly, Thailand supported the
convening of the UNCITRAL congress in 2007 and
looked forward to participating in the preparation
process.

47. Mr. Metelitsa (Belarus) commended the work of
the thirty-eighth session of the Commission and of its
working groups and said that his Government was
adopting measures which would enable it to accede to
the future convention on the use of electronic
communications in international contracts and to
recognize deals concluded between Belarusian and
foreign companies by means of such communications.
An interdepartmental working group headed by the
Deputy Prime Minister had been set up to develop a
national system of electronic commerce.

48. His Government supported the work of Working
Group I and took a positive view of the endeavours of
Working Group II to widen the use of agreed
procedures and to secure the introduction of modern
methods of mediation and conciliation, since it was
convinced that such activities would permit a
substantial strengthening of the multilateral system for
the settlement of commercial disputes through the
participation of non-governmental organizations
specializing in the resolution of disputes of that nature.
Like many other Member States, Belarus was
concerned by the rising number of cases in which the
Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of
Foreign Arbitral Awards (New York Convention) was
flouted, inter alia through failure to comply with the
requirement to put arbitration agreements between
parties to international transactions in writing. If that
trend were to spread, it would seriously jeopardize the
universality of the system for executing foreign arbitral
awards and might adversely affect foreign trade.

49. The Commission’s monitoring of the
implementation of the New York Convention was
therefore welcome and an international exchange of
data about the execution of foreign arbitral awards was



8

A/C.6/60/SR.1

essential. Information regarding the recognition and
enforcement of such awards in Belarus had been sent
to the Commission’s secretariat in August 2005. The
economic courts of Belarus were studying with interest
accounts of the manner in which the provisions of such
international agreements were implemented by the
national courts of other States.

50. The draft instrument on the carriage of goods
[wholly or partly] [by sea] ought to cover a broad
spectrum of questions and regulate relations in the
sphere of marine transport in as much detail as
possible. His Government also supported the
Commission’s efforts to devise an efficient legal
regime for security interests in goods involved in a
commercial activity and hoped that it would soon
complete its work on a guide on secured transactions
for legislative bodies, as that would have a beneficial
effect on the accessibility and value of credit.

51. As the provision of technical assistance and staff
training significantly promoted the introduction of
UNCITRAL standards in national law, Belarus was
prepared to support any initiatives aimed at
strengthening the capacity of the Commission’s
secretariat in that area. It was likewise in favour of
offering technical assistance for law reform and
welcomed the lengthening of the list of possible venues
for conferences and seminars designed to improve the
recognition and application of UNCITRAL documents.

52. His Government was interested in further
constructive and mutually beneficial cooperation with
the Commission. For that reason, it had set up a
council to initiate closer contacts between UNCITRAL
and Belarusian State organs and to bring about the
effective incorporation of international trade law in
Belarusian legislation. It therefore looked forward to
further constructive cooperation at the thirty-ninth
session of the Commission.

53. Mr. Shin (Republic of Korea) said that his
delegation welcomed the finalization of the draft
convention on the use of electronic communications in
international contracts. His country had based its own
Basic Electronic Transaction Act and Electronic
Signatures Act of 1999 on the UNCITRAL Model
Laws on Electronic Commerce and on the Electronic
Signatures, thus demonstrating its commitment to the
Commission’s goals and guidelines.

54. Although his Government agreed that the great
progress made on the draft instrument on the carriage

of goods [wholly or partly] [by sea] was attributable
largely to informal working methods, that approach
had certain flaws. At the most recent session of
Working Group III, there had been a lack of
cooperation between the informal intersessional
working group and the secretariat with regard to the
agenda and documentation. The agenda had not been
issued until the last moment, and it was unacceptable
that the Working Group should use as a basis for its
discussions documents produced by the informal group
which had not been available in all official languages
sufficiently in advance of the meeting. The agenda
must be set through close cooperation between the
informal group and the secretariat, in order to
guarantee that the discussion would proceed in a
satisfactory manner.

55. Working Group II had agreed, despite the wide
divergence of views on the matter, to include the draft
revised text regarding ex parte interim measures in the
draft Model Law on International Commercial
Arbitration, on the understanding that the provision
would apply unless agreed otherwise by the parties and
that no enforcement procedure would be provided for.
However, that hard-fought compromise solution might
cause uneasiness between the two opposing groups in
future, and should not be disregarded at a later stage.
More years must not be lost; it was to be hoped that the
compromise would lead to completion of the work in
2006, as planned.

56. He commended the Commission on the progress
made on the draft legislative guide on secured
transactions and on the groundwork for a revision for
the Model Law on Procurement of Goods, Construction
and Services, and welcomed its efforts to expand
training and technical assistance activities and to
organize seminars and consultations in various
countries. His Government looked forward to
continued participation in the process of harmonizing
and unifying international trade law.

57. Mr. Andjaba (Namibia), speaking on behalf of
the African Group, expressed support for the
Commission’s recommendation that the General
Assembly adopt during the current session, the draft
convention on the use of electronic communications in
international contracts, an instrument which would
eliminate the uncertainty currently surrounding the
legal value of electronic communications in
international contracts.



9

A/C.6/60/SR.1

58. The African Group noted with keen interest the
progress made by the Working Groups on Procurement,
Arbitration and Conciliation, Transport Law and
Security Interests. In addition, it attached great
importance to the Commission’s work in the area of
capacity-building and technical assistance to
developing countries and countries in transition, which
was of great benefit. Unfortunately, that work relied
heavily on unpredictable extrabudgetary funding, and
when no voluntary contributions were received, the
work had to be suspended. The African Group was
deeply grateful, in that regard, to Mexico, Singapore
and Switzerland for their contributions to the Trust
Fund for Symposia, and urged other countries to
contribute. It noted with concern that no recent
contributions had been made to the trust fund for travel
assistance. Consequently, developing countries in
Africa and elsewhere were unable to send their experts
to the meetings of the Commission and its working
group because the costs were beyond their reach. In
that regard, the African Group recalled that the original
mandate of the Commission emphasized the need to
take developing country’s interests into account. For
UNCITRAL instruments to gain universal
acceptability, participation in UNCITRAL meetings
should be inclusive.

59. Lastly, the African Group welcomed the
establishment of legislative and technical assistance
units within the Commission’s secretariat, applauded
the continuing work of the system established for the
collection and dissemination of case law on
UNCITRAL texts (CLOUT), and welcomed the
publication of the digest on the case law of the United
Nations Sales Convention.

60. Mr. Pang (Singapore) said that his country took
pride in the fact that its representatives had made
substantial contributions to the formulation of both the
United Nations Convention on Contracts for the
International Sale of Goods and the UNCITRAL Model
Law on International Commercial Arbitration, which
had been incorporated into its domestic law. It was
actively promoting those instruments among the
countries of the region. Furthermore, one of the
seminars held to commemorate the anniversaries of
those instruments, and to launch the UNCITRAL digest
of relevant case law had been held in Singapore, under
the auspices of the Commission and the Singapore
International Arbitration Centre.

61. As a small country that was heavily reliant on
international trade, Singapore was attracted by the
potential of electronic commerce, and therefore
welcomed the finalization of the draft convention on
the use of electronic communications in international
contracts, an effort in which Singapore was pleased to
have participated. It was keenly aware of the work of
the Working Groups on Arbitration and Conciliation,
Transport Law and Procurement. In that regard, it
looked forward to the completion of the work of the
Working Group on Arbitration; would like to see
improved modalities in the work of the Working Group
on Transport Law so as to enable greater participation
by all interested members; and hoped for clearer
direction in the work of the Working Group on
Procurement. The work of those bodies should be
efficient, effective and expeditious.

62. Singapore looked forward to continued
collaboration with the Commission on its expanded
technical assistance programmes. His country was
proud of its contributions to the work of the
Commission, and thereby to the establishment of an
interdependent, prosperous and peaceful world order.

63. Mr. Lavalle-Valdes (Guatemala) said that his
Government had always believed that the work of the
Commission deserved to be held in higher regard. The
Commission’s productivity was extraordinary, as was
demonstrated by the significant contributions made
since 2000 to the harmonization and progressive
unification of international trade law.

64. The draft convention on the use of electronic
commerce in international contracts, finalized at the
Commission’s 2005 session, could not be more
important and topical, and usefully complemented the
UNCITRAL Model Law on Electronic Commerce and
the UNCITRAL Model Law on Electronic Signatures.
His delegation was gratified to see that the report
before the Committee described in detail the debates
held and the decisions made in the Commission in the
preceding year. In addition to the intrinsic interest of
such information, it should also prove valuable in
interpreting and implementing the new convention. The
best example in that regard was perhaps the
interpretation of the word “party” in article 9,
paragraph 3, of the convention; on reflection in could
be concluded that the word applied not only to the
parties to a contract per se but also to any person who
was involved in any capacity in the conclusion of the
contract. That interpretation was consistent with article



10

A/C.6/60/SR.1

32 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, as
was confirmed in paragraph 61 of the report. It could
therefore be deduced that the word “party” applied, in
particular, to notaries.

65. Guatemala hoped that States parties to the new
convention would either refrain from using, or use only
with great care, the power granted under article 19,
paragraph 2 and article 21, paragraph 1. If they did do
so, they should ensure that declarations made pursuant
to those articles were compatible with the object and
purpose of the Convention.

66. In addition, his Government hoped that the
detailed overview on the Commission’s future work in
the area of electronic commerce, to be prepared by the
secretariat in accordance with paragraph 214, could be
reviewed by the Working Group on Electronic
Commerce in autumn 2006, even though paragraphs
240 and 240 indicated that no sessions of that Working
Group were scheduled for either autumn 2005 or
autumn 2006.

67. Mr. Playle (Australia) said that his Government
welcomed the work done by the Commission since the
fifty-ninth session of the General Assembly, and was
pleased that agreement had been reached on the draft
convention on the use of electronic communications in
international contracts. It also welcomed the focus of
the Working Group on Procurement on matters of
authentication and registration through the Internet of
tender management systems in the context of its
revision of the Model Law on Procurement of Goods,
Construction and Services. However, it was
disappointed that the issue of ex parte interim measures
continued to delay conclusion of the draft revisions to
the Model Law on International Commercial
Arbitration, and joined with others in seeking a speedy
resolution.

68. He noted the work of the Working Group on
Transport Law in considering the draft instrument on
the carriage of goods [wholly or partly] [by sea], and
said that transport by sea was essential to Australia’s
international trade, and so therefore was the issue of
liability for loss or damage to sea cargo. Australia was
seeking a regime that would strike a fair balance
between the interests of shippers and carriers which
was crucial if the instrument was to be widely
accepted.

69. His delegation also noted the work of the
Working Group on Security Interests in preparing the

draft legislative guide on secured transactions, and
looked forward to future work of the Working Group
on Insolvency Law, now that the UNCITRAL
Legislative Guide on Insolvency Law had been
concluded. Moreover, Australia commended the
Commission for coordinating and cooperating with
other international organizations, and in particular, its
provision of technical assistance to developing
countries and countries in transition.

The meeting rose at 6 p.m.


